## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

HOWARD B. WALD, JR.,

vs. CASE NO.: SC08-1143

**Lower Tribunal No(s).: 1D07-2772** 

ATHENA F. GRAINGER, as Personal Representative of the Estate of SAM GUS FELOS

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

S. PERRY PENLAND, JR., P.A.

/s/S. Perry Penland, Jr.
S. PERRY PENLAND, JR.
Florida Bar #320201
Attorney for Appellee
233 East Bay Street, Suite 610
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 634-0501
(904) 634-0606 (facsimile)

ERIC S. BLOCK, ESQUIRE Florida Bar #915531 Attorney for Appellee 6817 Southpoint Parkway, Suite 2502 Jacksonville, FL 32216 (904) 475-9400 (904) 475-9411 facsimile

##

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The petitioner here and plaintiff below, Howard B. Wald, Jr., will be referred to by name or as the plaintiff.

The defendant below, Sam Gus Felos, will be referred to as the defendant.

The respondent, Athena F. Grainger, as personal representative of the estate of Sam Gus Felos, will be referred to as the respondent.

Citations to the record will be "R", with the page number(s) specified, e.g., "R1" or "R1-2".

Citations to the trial transcript will be "TT" with volume number specified as a Roman numeral and the page number(s) specified as Arabic numerals, e.g. "TT I:1" or "TT II: 1-2".

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review and issue to be decided is whether there is express and direct conflict in the decision of the District Court of Appeal and decisions of other District Courts of Appeal and opinions of this Honorable Court. Florida Rule of Appellant Procedure, 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and *Dodi Publishing Company v. Editorial America*, S.A. 385 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1980).

### PETITIONER'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case arises from an automobile collision that occurred between the plaintiff below and petitioner here, Howard B. Wald, Jr., and the defendant below, Sam Gus Felos, for which Wald brought suit. R: 1-2.

The defendant admitted fault for causing the accident. The case went to trial with the only issue being Wald's claim for damages for injuries to his neck, low back, right arm, right foot and right thigh. TT III: 283. Wald's treating physician, Dr. Jackson Tan, testified that Wald had sustained permanent injuries to his neck, back and right thigh. TT III: 308. Wald sustained a nerve injury that resulted in an area of numbness on the right thigh. The defendant's expert physician agreed that the thigh injury was permanent. TT V: 578-579. There was no evidence of any kind which was contrary to Wald's claim that the injury to his right thigh was permanent. The main focus of the trial was Wald's claim for damages as a result of his neck and back injuries.

The defendant's retained expert physician, Dr. Howard Hogshead, disputed the permanency of the injuries to the neck and back, but testified in direct examination by defense counsel that Wald had sustained a permanent injury to the right thigh:

- Q. All right, sir. Do you have an opinion with respect to the meralgia paresthetica [the right thigh nerve injury] as to whether he has an impairment as a result of that finding that you made as a result of this automobile accident?
- A. I do have an opinion.
- Q. And what is that opinion?

A. In arriving at impairment ratings there is a guidebook. It's only a guidebook, but it's about that thick. It's in the fifth edition, it's called AMA Guide to Evaluation of Permanent Impairment. And it has everything in it that you can imagine, hearing loss, psychiatric problems, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera. It does deal with meralgia paresthetica. And the listing there would be a three percent impairment of the right lower extremity, which that converts — there's a big conversion table, converts to a one percent impairment of the whole person related to the meralgia paresthetica, which I'm saying is probably casually related to the automobile accident.

TT V: 578-579.

The record shows that there was no testimony or evidence in either the plaintiff's case in chief or the defendant's case in chief which in any way disputed that the plaintiff's thigh injury was permanent. As a result of the unanimous testimony of Wald's treating physician, the defendant's physician, as well as all other evidence and testimony at the trial, Wald moved for a directed verdict on the issue of the permanency of his right thigh injury. The motion was made pursuant to Florida Statute §627.737(2)(b), which requires a plaintiff to have sustained a permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical probability in order to recover non-economic damages. TT V: 693-694. That statute states in part:

# 627.737 Tort exemption; limitation on right to damages; punitive damage.

(2) In any action of tort brought against the owner...operator...of a motor vehicle...a plaintiff may

recovery damages in tort for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience because of bodily injury, sickness or disease arising out of such motor vehicle only in the event that the injury or disease consist in whole or in part of: ...

(b) Permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical probability...

As the trial court was required to do based on all of the evidence presented at trial, the trial judge granted the motion stating that:

THE COURT: Dr. Hogshead did testify that he gave him one percent whole person, three percent right lower extremity due to this meralgia paresthetica which was casually related to this accident in his opinion. Therefore, I'm going to grant the motion for directed verdict on the issue of permanency. You're certainly free to argue that none of the other injuries were permanent.

TT V: 693-694.

The record also shows that in opposing the plaintiff's Motion for Directed Verdict, defense counsel never argued or even suggested that there was any evidence whatsoever contradicting that the thigh injury was permanent. Defense counsel argued in opposition to the motion as follows:

MS. TAYLOR: Your Honor, in response, there has been conflicting evidence on the issue definitely with respect to the neck and back. Also, with respect to that [the right thigh injury], the report itself does not relate it to it, although Dr. Hogshead's testimony has been that he does, for the benefit, relate it. We think still that a jury

can accept or reject any testimony and any respective evidence, and we would argue that directed verdict on this issue of permanency should not be issued.

TT V: 693-694.

The jury later returned a substantial verdict for Wald showing that the jury found the painful neck and back injuries to be permanent. R: 87-88.

After the trial, the defendant died and Athena F. Grainger, as personal representative of the estate of Sam Gus Felos, was substituted as party defendant. R: 181-185.

Grainger appealed the jury's award and, in particular, the granting of Wald's Motion for Directed Verdict on the issue of the permanency of Wald's right thigh injury. R: 193-195. The First District Court of Appeal reversed by way of its opinion of April 10, 2008, holding that the trial court erred in granting the motion, and that permanency is always a jury issue even if all evidence on the issue of permanency is uncontradicted.

Wald then requested this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure, 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv), based on conflicts between the holding in the case at bar with opinions of this Court and other district courts of appeal. This Court accepted conflict jurisdiction on February 2, 2009.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court for granting a directed verdict on the issue of the permanency of Wald's injuries in this automobile accident case, where both Wald's treating physician and the defendant's retained expert physician testified that Wald had sustained a permanent nerve injury

resulting in numbness to the right thigh due to the accident, and additionally there was no other testimony or evidence that contradicted these unanimous opinions. Florida Statute §627.737(2)(b) requires a plaintiff in an automobile accident case to have sustained a permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical probability in order to recover non-economic damages. Wald's motion was directed to this statute. The District Court of Appeal erred in reversing because fundamentally, verdicts must be based upon evidence, and there was no evidence to support a potential jury verdict of no permanency. Wald's treating physician, Dr. Jackson Tan, testified to the permanency of Wald's injuries. The defendant's physician, Dr. Howard Hogshead, confirmed that Wald had sustained a three percent permanent partial impairment to the lower extremity which translated into a one percent whole body impairment based upon the American Medical No other evidence or testimony contradicted these Association Guidelines. unanimous opinions. As a result, the trial court granted Wald's Motion for Directed Verdict on the issue of the permanency of Wald's injuries, and the District Court reversed.

The District Court of Appeal erred because its holding would allow a jury to base a verdict upon no evidence at all. If the issue of the permanency of Wald's injuries had of been submitted to the jury in the case at bar, and if the jury had found that Wald had not sustained a permanent injury, such a finding would literally have been based upon no evidence.

The holdings of the District Court conflicts with holdings of this Court that require verdicts to be based upon real substance and not predicated on conjecture, fancy, caprice or speculation. The holding of the District Court of Appeal below, if left to stand, confuses, if not renders obsolete, directed verdicts, judgments not

withstanding the verdict, motions for summary judgment, additur, remittitur and motions for new trial where verdicts are against the manifest weight of the evidence. All of the above share a common principle of law, more particularly, that verdicts must be based upon evidence, and if there is no evidence to support a particular issue, that issue should not be submitted to a jury. The opinion of the District Court further would allow juries to reach verdicts that are against the unanimous testimony and evidence of both parties, such as in the case at bar.

The District Court erred by finding that the testimony of the defendant's physician, Dr. Howard Hogshead, was ambivalent, thus creating a factual dispute concerning the issue of permanency. The alleged ambivalence of Dr. Hoghead's testimony was never raised to the trial court as a basis for submitting the issue of permanency to the jury and therefore is waived. Further, the testimony of Dr. Hogshead was not ambivalent as Dr. Hogshead testified within a reasonable degree of medical probability that Wald had, in fact, sustained a permanent injury from the accident in question.

The decision of the District Court conflicts with decisions of this Court that uniformly hold that while juries are free to determine the credibility of expert medical opinions, if a jury is going to reject that opinion, the jury's decision must be based upon conflicting lay testimony or some other conflicting evidence introduced at trial.

The decision of the District Court conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal who have uniformly held that a directed verdict on the issue of permanency is appropriate where there is no other evidence to contradict medical opinions that a plaintiff has sustained a permanent injury.

The District Court in its opinion states that the trial court reversibly errred by granting a directed verdict for Wald on the issue of the permanency of Wald's right thigh injury because the ruling ". . .took from the jury's consideration the issue of the permanency of plaintiff's neck and back injuries. . ." This is simply not true. The issue of the permanency of Wald's neck and back injuries was thoroughly litigated at trial through the testimony of defense experts, as well as argument of defense counsel during closing arguments.

The District Court erred in misconstruing Florida's no-fault threshold statute, Florida Statute §672.737 when stating in footnote 1 of the opinion that:

Significantly, based on a plain reading of the statute, it appears the jury would be precluded from awarding damages based on the permanency of the thigh injury, because that injury did not cause "pain, suffering, mental anguish or inconvenience." *See* §627.737 (2), Fla. Stat.

The District Court's holding that the requirement of a permanent injury must also cause "pain, suffering, mental anguish or inconvenience" is inconsistent with the statute. The express language of the statute makes it clear that a plaintiff may recover ". . .for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience. . ." if the plaintiff's injury "...consists in whole or in part of" an injury that is a "permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical probability." The requirement of a permanent injury is simply a threshold. Further, the District Court erred because

Wald's right thigh injury, in fact, does cause him mental anguish and inconvenience as testified by the defendant's physician, Dr. Hogshead.

If any error was committed by the trial court, that error was harmless. The jury awarded Wald \$861,936.55 in non-economic damages for his injuries to his neck and back. Based upon the size of the verdict, the jury found Wald's neck and back to be permanently injured, an issue that was thoroughly litigated at trial as its central issue.

### **ISSUE**

DID THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERR IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT FOR GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT ON THE ISSUE OF THE PERMANENCY OF WALD'S RIGHT THIGH INJURY BY HOLDING THAT THE ISSUE OF PERMANENCY IS ALWAYS A JURY QUESTION AND THAT ANY JURY IS FREE TO REJECT ALL THE UNCONTRADICTED AND UNANIMOUS EVIDENCE OF BOTH PARTIES?

ANSWER: Yes. The District Court of Appeal erred in holding that juries are free to decide the issue of permanency even in the face of uncontradicted and unanimous expert testimony of both parties as well as all other evidence in the case.

## **ARGUMENT**

The District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court for granting a directed verdict on the issue of the permanency of Wald's injuries in this automobile

accident case, where both Wald's treating physician and the defendant's physician testified that Wald had sustained a permanent right thigh injury and, additionally, there was no other testimony or evidence that contradicted these unanimous opinions.

The District Court of Appeal erred because fundamentally, verdicts must be based upon evidence and there was no evidece to support a potential jury verdict of no permanency. The evidence in the case at bar was unanimous from both Wald's and the defendant's presentation of expert testimony and all other evidence, that Wald had sustained a permanent nerve injury that caused numbness to an area of his right thigh.

In that regard, Wald's treating physician, Dr. Jackson Tan, testified that:

- Q. Doctor, do you have an opinion within a reasonable degree of medical probability, and I think I've asked you this, but just to make sure, as to whether Mr. Wald has suffered a permanent injury as a result of this collision?
- A. Yes.
- Q. An those injuries would be to what part of his body, sir?
- A. To his neck and to his back, as well as as well as his right elbow.
- Q. Okay. How about his right thigh?
- A. And the pain going down to the right thigh which was coming from his back, the lumbar radiculopathy.

TT III: 308.

In its case in chief, the defense offered the testimony of its physician, Dr. Howard Hogshead, orthopedic surgeon. Dr. Hogshead opined, concerning the right thigh injury, <u>under direct examination by defendant's trial counsel</u>, as follows:

- Q. All right, sir. Do you have an opinion with respect to the meralgia paresthetica [the right thigh nerve injury] as to whether he has an impairment as a result of that finding that you made as a result of this automobile accident?
- A. I do have an opinion.
- Q. And what is that opinion?
- A. In arriving at impairment ratings there is a guidebook. It's only a guidebook, but it's about that thick. It's in the fifth edition, it's called AMA Guide to Evaluation of Permanent Impairment. And it has everything in it that you can imagine, hearing loss, psychiatric problems, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera. It does deal with meralgia paresthetica. And the listing there would be a three percent impairment of the right lower extremity, which that coverts there's a big conversion table, converts to a one percent impairment of the whole person related to the meralgia paresthetica, which I'm saying is probably casually related to the automobile accident.

#### TT V: 578-579.

There was no lay testimony or any other evidence of any kind which in any way disputed the testimony of the expert doctors presented by both Wald and the defendant. All of the evidence in the case, the expert testimony, the lay testimony, the documentary evidence - all the evidence - showed that the thigh injury to Wald was permanent in nature.

Based upon the uncontroverted opinions of both parties' doctors that the thigh injury (meralgia paresthetica) was permanent, and since there was no lay evidence or inference to the contrary, Wald's trial counsel moved for directed verdict on the issue of permanency concerning the requirements of Florida Statute §627.737(2)(b). The trial court granted the motion and stated that:

THE COURT: Dr. Hogshead did testify that he gave him one percent whole person, three percent right lower extremity due to this meralgia paresthetica which was casually related to this accident in his opinion. Therefore, I'm going to grant the motion for directed verdict on the issue of permanency. You're certainly free to argue that none of the other injuries were permanent.

#### TT V: 693-694.

The District Court of Appeal found this to be error and reversed, holding that permanency is a jury question, and that because juries are free to weigh the credibility of experts as it does any other witness, juries can reject even uncontradicted testimony. It is the latter part of this ruling that is error.

The error of this holding lies in that it would hypothetically allow the jury in the case at bar (or any jury, for that matter) to base its verdict on no evidence at all, because here the testimony and evidence of <u>both</u> parties was unanimous that Wald has a permanently injured right thigh. This fundamental principle that verdicts must be based on evidence is the very foundation of our system of justice. As stated by this Court in *Cudahy Packing Co. v. Ellis*, 140 So. 918 (Fla. 1932):

The jury must rest its verdict on considerations of real substance. It cannot be predicated on conjecture, fancy, caprice or speculation, . . .

Such is the situation in the case at bar. Wald introduced the testimony of his treating physician, Dr. Jackson Tan, who testified as to the permanency of Wald's injuries including the right thigh. The defendant, in his case in chief on direct examination, offered the testimony of his expert physician, who also testified that Wald's right thigh injury, which was caused by the accident in question, was permanent, and that Wald had sustained a three percent impairment to the lower extremity, which translated into a one percent impairment to the body as a whole based upon AMA [American Medical Association] Guidelines. No lay testimony or other evidence of any kind disputed the unanimous opinions of both parties' experts as to the permanency of the right thigh injury. Therefore, the jury should not have been given the issue of permanency to decide because there was no issue to decide, since jury verdicts must be based upon "real substance". In fact, it would have been error under the evidence adduced at this trial for the trial court not to have granted the plaintiff's Motion for Directed Verdict on the issue of permanency.

It has long been the law from this Honorable Court as well as the other district courts of appeal in the state of Florida that jury verdicts must be based on evidence. This is precisely why there are an established procedures for motions for summary judgment, directed verdicts, judgment not withstanding the verdict, additur, remittitur and motions for new trial. Accordingly, the holding of the District Court of Appeal that juries can disregard the opinions of experts, even if uncontroverted by any other evidence, is contrary to the holdings of this Court and violates the most fundamental principles of justice.

The holdings of the District Court of Appeal below is further in conflict with this Court's decision in *Kenney v. Langston*, 182 So. 430 (Fla. 1938), wherein this Court stated:

The legal sufficiency of the evidence is a matter of law for the Court to determine; and where as here the evidence would not in law support a verdict for the plaintiff, there can legally be no recovery and the court should direct a verdict for the defendant.

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