## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

#### HOWARD B. WALD, JR.,

Petitioner

vs.

CASE NO.: Lower Tribunal No.: **SC08-1143** 1D07-2772

**ATHENA F. GRAINGER,** as personal representative of the Estate of **SAM GUS FELOS**,

Respondent

# **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

O'HARA LAW FIRM

Professional Association

Susan S. Oosting Florida Bar No. 603457 J. Stephen O'Hara, Jr. Florida Bar No. 243371 4811 Beach Boulevard, Ste. 303 Jacksonville, Florida 32207 Telephone: (904) 346-3166 Attorneys for Respondent

# **

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

### THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

Respondent maintains that there is no conflict between the appellate decision in this case and any other reported opinion in Florida law, because the district court expressly held that the medical testimony concerning the thigh symptom was ambivalent. This finding is supported by the record below, showing a direct conflict between Dr. Tan's opinion that the thigh symptom was a radiculopathy of the low back injury, and Dr. Hogshead's opinion that the thigh symptom was not a radiculopathy and not related to the back. It also is supported by Dr. Hogshead's testimony that the numbness could have been caused in either of two ways, but, based upon history, and giving plaintiff the benefit of the doubt, it likely was related to the accident. Accordingly, there is no conflict with any of the cases cited by Petitioner in which the expert testimony was unanimous or uncontroverted. However, even if the doctors' testimony was unanimous, which it was not, there was ample evidence from which the jury could have discounted the testimony, weighing the credibility of Wald, on whose reporting the opinions were based. This Court affirmed the jury's right and obligation to reject expert testimony in similar circumstances.

<u>Chomont v. Ward</u>, 103 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1958), was an appeal of a jury verdict in favor of defendant Ward in an auto negligence case. Chomont contended that he had proved liability and property damage of \$34, and that the jury completely disregarded the evidence in reaching its verdict. Chomont did not move for a directed verdict, but did move for a new trial as to damages, or, alternatively, as to all issues. This Court held that the jury did not lack a reasonable basis for doubting Chomont's testimony regarding his injuries, and noted that the doctors' testimony concerning Chomont's injuries was based upon the history related by the patient. In addition, the investigating police officers testified that, immediately after the accident, Chomont made no complaint of injury. This Court held:

Finding as we do that in view of its authority to evaluate the credibility of the witnesses and in view of the fact that the jury had a reasonable basis on which to arrive at its conclusion, we are therefore led to hold that the trial judge committed no error in denying the motion for a new trial and entering the judgment as he did.

<u>Id.</u>, at 638.

This opinion is consistent with <u>Chomont</u>'s holding that a jury may disregard

medical experts' testimony if it is based upon the history provided by plaintiff, which had been called in question by discrepancies, as Wald's testimony was in this case.

Easkold v. Rhodes, 614 Sol.2d 495 (Fla. 1993), resolved a conflict between district appellate courts and a prior opinion of this Court as to a jury's ability to accept or reject the testimony of a medical expert. Although doctors testified that Ms. Easkold had sustained a permanent injury as a result of the auto accident, there also was evidence that she had failed to advise the doctors of prior similar complaints, and had given contradictory testimony concerning her medical history in deposition. The jury found that Ms. Easkold had not sustained a permanent injury as a result of the accident. The First District reversed, holding that when expert testimony of permanency is uncontroverted, a verdict of no permanency is against the manifest weight of the evidence. This Court disagreed, holding that a jury is free to determine the credibility of medical experts and weigh their testimony in light of conflicting lay evidence, citing Shaw v. Puleo, 159 So.2d 641 (Fla. 1964).

In this case, the district court specifically relied on the authority of <u>Easkold</u> in stating, "A jury is free to weigh the credibility of expert witnesses as it does any other witness, and reject even uncontradicted testimony." [1DCA: 3] Petitioner apparently believes that this conflicts with <u>Easkold</u> because, in Petitioner's view, there was no conflicting lay evidence at trial. However, in context with the rest of the opinion, it is clear that the First District found that there was conflicting evidence. Therefore, the opinion is consistent with, not in conflict with, this Court's holding in <u>Easkold</u>.

Nor is there any conflict between the opinion in this case and <u>Weygant v.</u> <u>Fort Myers Lincoln Mercury, Inc.</u>, 640 So.2d 1092 (Fla.1994), in which this Court reaffirmed the holding in <u>Easkold</u> that a jury may determine the credibility of a medical expert and reject his or her opinion when there is relevant conflicting lay testimony. Notably, in <u>Weygant</u>, the conflicting lay testimony came from prior depositions in a workers compensation proceeding, and there was evidence that she had given an incomplete medical history to her doctors concerning prior injuries.

# THE DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL

In <u>Vega v. Travelers Indemnity Co.</u>, 520 So.2d 73 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), the Third District reversed a final judgment awarding no damages to the Vegas for her uninsured motorist and PIP claims, finding it was against the manifest weight of the evidence. <u>Vega</u> is distinguishable from this case because the <u>Vega</u> court expressly and repeatedly states that the evidence was "unrebutted," "uncontradicted," and "undisputed," and that Travelers presented "no testimony, expert or otherwise, in rebuttal." <u>Id.</u>, at 74-75. First, in this case, the jury did not have the opportunity to consider the issue of permanency. This is an appeal from a directed verdict, not an order denying a motion for new trial. Second, the district court expressly found that there was ambivalence in the testimony concerning the thigh injury. Nowhere in this opinion is there a suggestion that the evidence was uncontradicted or undisputed. Third, a zero verdict for PIP damages, when there is an admitted injury, is not the equivalent of a verdict of no permanency in a liability case. If the jury in this case found that Mr. Wald did not suffer a permanent injury, it could have awarded economic damages for medical expenses (there was no lost wage claim). It would not have resulted in a zero verdict, as occurred in Vega.

<u>Williamson v. Superior Insurance Company</u>, 746 So.2d 483 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), was a reversal of the denial of a motion for directed verdict and for new trial on the issue of permanent injury. Unlike this case, the opinion in <u>Williamson</u> expressly states, "there is no evidence to refute Mr. Williamson's claim of permanent injury." In this case, the opinion states that Mr. Wald sought damages "only for his neck and back injuries," and did not seek damages for his thigh injury. The opinion correctly found that the medical testimony as to causation and permanency of the neck and low back injuries was totally contradictory. The

district court also found that the doctor who noted a permanent thigh numbress, related it to the accident giving Wald "the benefit of the doubt." The district court expressly found that the evidence concerning the thigh injury was "ambivalent."

Petitioner argues to this Court that the findings in the opinion are incorrect, asking this Court to go behind the opinion as written, and re-decide the appeal below. However, there is no dispute that the opinion on its face states that the evidence was ambivalent and not unanimous Therefore, there is no conflict with any of the cases cited by Petitioner in the Initial Brief.

In Evans v. Montenegro, 728 So.2d 270 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), the appellate court upheld a directed verdict in favor of plaintiff as to permanency. In Evans, the court stated that "there was no conflict in the expert testimony regarding whether the plaintiff sustained a permanent injury." Id., at 271. Petitioner argues that, in this case, Respondent did not sustain the burden announced in Evans. However, Evans restricts the holdings of this Court in Easkold and Weygant. See, e.g., Republic Services of Florida v. Poucher, 851 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003). In Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Schnurer, 627 So.2d 611 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1993), the First District correctly declined to limit this Court's holding in Easkold by restricting the permissible reasons for a jury's rejecting an expert opinion to the "three grounds set out in Jarrell and quoted in

<u>Holmes</u>." 1 These are the same three bases the <u>Evans</u> court relied on in affirming the directed verdict. If there is any conflict between this opinion and <u>Evans</u>, which Respondent denies, it is this opinion, not <u>Evans</u>, which should be affirmed.

In <u>State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Orr</u>, 660 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1995), the Fourth District affirmed a directed verdict on the issue of permanency. In <u>Orr</u> the court expressly found that there was no conflicting or contradictory medical evidence as to plaintiff's complaints of pain. Even so, the court noted that Florida law recognizes that a jury may reject expert medical testimony if there is a reasonable basis to disbelieve it. The court also distinguished <u>Orr</u> from <u>Easkold</u> and other cases where there was some fact basis for a jury to disbelieve the claim of permanent injury, including where the evidence was "ambiguous" or "could be perceived as being in conflict." <u>Orr</u> is inapposite to this case because the opinion expressly states that the evidence of permanency is ambivalent.

In this case, by describing the evidence of the thigh injury as "ambivalent,"

1

<sup>&</sup>quot;When the proponent of permanency supports that hypothesis with expert testimony, the opponent of permanency, in order to carry the issue to the jury, must either: (1) present countervailing expert testimony; (2) severely impeach the proponent's expert; or (3) present other evidence which creates a direct conflict with the proponent's evidence. Jarrell v. Churm, 611 So.2d 69, 70 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992)" Holmes v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 624 So.2d 824, 825 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

the district court held that it was contradictory and capable of being understood in more than one way, and that it could support more than one reasonable inference. This is the standard for allowing the issue to go to the jury. Accordingly, the opinion in this case is not comparable to any case cited by Petitioner which bases its holding on a lack of divergent medical testimony.

This case does not conflict with the proposition postulated by Petitioner that "while the issue of permanency is generally a jury question, if there is no evidence to the contrary, the issue of permanency should not be submitted to the jury." [IB: 31]

In his Initial Brief, Petitioner raises the unfounded spectre of an unjust result if the directed verdict had not been granted and the jury had returned a verdict of no permanency. No one knows at this point what decision the jurors might have made as to permanency, if the issue had not been taken away from them by directed verdict. There was evidence from which they could have found that Mr. Wald's back injury was permanent and related to the accident.

However, despite Petitioner's repeated assertions to the contrary, there also was evidence from which a jury could have found that Mr. Wald did not incur a permanent injury as a result of this auto accident. The jurors could have found that the thigh symptom was a radiculapathy from the lower back, as Dr. Tan testified, and then found that the lower back was not a permanent injury related to the accident, as Dr. Hogshead testified. The jury could have accepted Dr. Hogshead's testimony that the thigh symptom was separate from the lower back, but could have discounted the relation to the accident, not giving Mr. Wald the benefit of the doubt, because of his lack of disclosure of prior injuries.

There is nothing in the First District's opinion in this case that reasonably can be used as precedent for an argument that directed verdicts as to permanency no longer exist, as Petitioner claims. Any attorney attempting to cite this case in opposition to a motion for directed verdict, where the evidence actually was unanimous and uncontroverted, would be rebuffed by the well-founded argument that this case is distinguishable, and not controlling, because in this case, the evidence of permanency was "ambiguous." *See also*, <u>Fell</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Tripp v. Killam</u>, 492 So.2d 472 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) (much of the evidence was ambiguous and uncertain as to the lasting effects).

### PERMANENCY OF THE NECK AND BACK INJURIES THOROUGHLY LITIGATED

The district court did not err in holding that the directed verdict took the issue of permanency of Mr. Wald's neck and back injuries away from the jury. Petitioner acknowledges that there was ample conflicting evidence on these issues; in fact, the entire trial was about permanence and causation of the claimed injuries. However, because the trial court granted a directed verdict, there were no jury instructions as to permanency and no question on the verdict form. The jury had no way to know that, if it did not believe the neck and back injury were permanent, no non-economic damages should be awarded for those claims.

Plaintiff's argument is the same as saying that a directed verdict as to liability does not take the issue of liability from the jury, because they can still address the question by not awarding any damages to the plaintiff. Plaintiff's harmless error argument is unavailing because the jury is not required to, or even capable of, correcting errors made by the trial court.

### PERMANENT INJURY, IN WHOLE OR PART, IS ALL THAT IS REQUIRED

The district court's statement in footnote 1 of the opinion does not misstate §627.737, Florida Statutes, which states in pertinent part:

2 plaintiff may recover damages in tort for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease arising out of the ownership, maintenance, operation, or use of such motor vehicle. . . . only in the event that the injury or disease consists in whole or in part of:

(b) Permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical probability, other than scarring or disfigurement.

. . . .

The statute says that a plaintiff may recover may award damages for pain and suffering only if the injury is permanent within a reasonable degree of medical probability. The district court did not add a new requirement that an injury must be painful to be permanent. In so arguing, Petitioner confuses the issue of permanency with the question of damages.

It seems to be Petitioner's position in this section that the statute permitted the jury to award over \$800,000.00 in general damages for the remainder of plaintiff's life for a non-permanent back injury, if plaintiff had a permanent, nonsymptomatic thigh numbress for which he was not seeking compensation. Whether or not this unjust result is warranted, because of the directed verdict, the jury was not instructed on \$627.727 at all, therefore, their verdict could not have been based on the law, and correctly was reversed.

Petitioner's argument in this section contradicts the argument in the next section, where he attempts to justify the directed verdict as harmless error. By saying that Respondent was free to argue that the back and neck injuries were not permanent, Petitioner suggests that, if the jury believed Respondent, it would not have awarded over a million dollars in damages, and Respondent would suffer no legal harm from the directed verdict.

These inconsistent arguments and unjust results illustrate the inherent impossibility of Petitioner's position that the directed verdict as to the thigh did not take the issue of permanency of the neck and back injury from the jury.

#### HARMLESS ERROR

Petitioner seems to be saying that the directed verdict was harmless error because, judging from the size of the verdict, the jury would have found permanency anyway. Notably, Petitioner cites no legal authority for the proposition that a directed verdict as to permanency can ever be harmless error.

Petitioner contends that a jury could not have awarded over \$850,000.00 in non-economic damages without finding that Mr. Wald's neck and back were permanently injured. This argument overlooks the effect of the directed verdict, which eliminated the jury instruction as to the effect of \$627.767.

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